I. 	 ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Erred by Effectively Granting Summary Judgment 

Prematurely Based on an Incomplete Record 


B. 	 The Circuit Court Erred by Denying Petitioners Leave to Amend 

C. 	 The Circuit Court Denied Petitioners Due Process of Law 

II. 	 STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 	 Summary 

Following this Court's August 26, 2014 remand of the Circuit Court's November l3, 2013 

summary dismissal of this case, the Circuit Court dismissed it again on November 20,2014 by signing an 

order tendered by Respondents without a single alteration, without a hearing, and without affording an 

opportunity to Petitioners to brief relevant issues. Similar to the Circuit Court's initial November 14, 

2013 dismissal, which was "[b]ased upon, and for the reasons set forth in" Manville Personal Injury 

Settlement Trustv. Blankenship, 231 W. Va. 637,749 S.E.2d 329 (20l3) ("Manville"), the latest one 

again relies on the Manville decision despite the obvious differences between that case and this one. 

As previously argued on the first appeal in this case, this case involves indisputably different 

claims than Manville (that is, Petitioners' non-derivative merger-related claims) and a wholly different 

factual record, which supports Petitioners' assertions that the Merger between Massey Energy Company 

("Massey") and Alpha Natural Resources, Inc. ("Alpha") - at the time it was negotiated by the 

Respondent Directors, at the price negotiated, and with the bidder that would afford the Respondent 

Directors an escape from personal liability - had no legitimate business purpose relative to the available 

alternatives. Petitioners did not argue or present evidence that the Merger was pretextual in Manville or 

assert direct claims related to the Merger because that case was a contempt proceeding arising out of a 

June 30, 2008 circuit court order. As the Court correctly noted, there was "nothing in the pleadings" of 

that case "suggesting that the merger was pretextual, fraudulent or even inequitable, was alleged other 

than in a cursory manner." Id., 749 S.E.2d at 338. By contrast, such allegations and supporting 



summary-judgment evidence are a primary focus of this case (with respect to the derivative claims at 

issue) as are independent direct claims of breach of fiduciary duties owed directly to shareholders in the 

context of a merger (with respect to the direct merger-related claims). 

As the Court is aware, this litigation began as shareholder derivative actions - now consolidated 

filed by Petitioners on behalf of nominal defendant Massey. Petitioners alleged that certain of Massey's 

officers and directors, named as individual defendants below and respondents to this appeal, breached 

their fiduciary duties owed to Massey in connection with the April 5, 2010 explosion at Massey's Upper 

Big Branch mine, which killed 29 miners. During the course of this litigation, Massey announced that it 

would be acquired by Alpha Natural Resources. On May 2, 2011, before Massey shareholders were 

slated to vote on the acquisition, Petitioners sought leave to file a Second Amended Verified Shareholder 

Derivative and Class Action Complaint ("Second Amended Complaint"). In addition to the prior 

derivative claims, the Second Amended Complaint asserted direct claims relating to the merger on a class 

action basis for Massey's shareholders. 

The parties conducted discovery pertaining to the merger and shareholder derivative claims, 

which Petitioners used to prepare a motion for a preliminary injunction to block the merger on the basis 

that it was pre-textual and unfair. Massey was acquired by Alpha in June 2011. Respondents, thereafter, 

moved to dismiss Petitioners' derivative claims, stating that the merger deprived Petitioners of standing. 

Respondents also opposed Petitioners' motion for leave to amend. Petitioners responded, incorporating 

portions of the discovery materials already submitted in the court record, requesting a specific period for 

additional discovery, and reiterating their requests for leave to amend their pleadings. The parties 

completed briefing Respondents' motion to dismiss and Petitioners' motion for leave to amend by August 

2011. Pursuant to a request from the Circuit Court, the parties submitted competing proposed orders on 

September 2, 2011. 

The Circuit Court did not rule on the motions for over two years, as the federal criminal 

investigation into the Upper Big Branch disaster effectively blocked any additional discovery in this 
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matter. As the federal criminal investigation neared its projected end in mid-January 2014, Respondents, 

on their own accord and without any briefing by the parties, submitted a new proposed order on 

November 6,2013. The proposed order simply stated that it was "based upon" this Court's September 

12,2013 opinion in Manville, 231 W. Va. 637, 749 S.E.2d 329,331-34 (2013). Petitioners objected to 

Respondents' proposed order and submitted an alternative order on November 14,2013. On the same 

day, the Circuit Court signed and entered the Respondents' proposed order without any changes. 

Petitioners appealed the November 14,2013 order on January 15,2014 and, on August 26, 2014, 

this Court remanded this case back to the Circuit Court with directions to enter an order containing 

findings and conclusions oflaw. On October 16,2014, the Circuit Court entered an Order Regarding 

Submission of Proposed Orders stating that its November 13,2013 ruling would remain unchanged but 

the order allowed the parties to submit a proposed amended order with findings of fact and conclusions of 

law no later than November 7, 2014 pursuant to T.C.R. 24.01. On November 7,2014, Respondents 

submitted a proposed amended final order granting Respondents' motion to dismiss and denying 

Petitioners' motion for leave to file a second amended complaint. That same day, Petitioners filed an 

objection to the procedure in the Circuit Court's October 16,2014 order, moving for the entry of a 

scheduling order that would permit Petitioners an opportunity to file an amended complaint 30 days after 

the federal criminal investigation into Respondent Blankenship concluded. On November 20,2014, the 

Circuit Court signed and entered the Respondents' proposed amended order without any changes and 

entered an order denying Petitioners' motion for scheduling order. 

A. Initial Complaints and Consolidation 

This action was originally filed on April 15, 2010 by Petitioner Manville Trust Personal Injury 

Settlement Trust ("Manville Trust"). (JA000005-259.) It represented the first-filed of multiple 

shareholder derivative lawsuits seeking to hold Respondents accountable for their role in the Upper Big 

Branch explosion that killed 29 miners. (JA002135.) Its initial claims for breach of fiduciary duty to 

Massey arose out of the Respondents' willful violations of a June 30, 2008 order issued by the Circuit 
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Court for Kanawha County for the benefit ofMassey, as well as their inaction in the face of persistent red 

flags showing the Company's continuing, systematic violations of mine-safety laws. The June 30, 2008 

order resolved a prior shareholder derivative suit involving Massey's officers and directors and their 

alleged breaches of fiduciary duty for ignoring rampant violations of miner safety law in the face ofred 

flags of dangerous conditions similar to those alleged in this action. Manville Trust v. Blankenship et al., 

Case No. 07-C-1333 (June 30, 2008 Order, Stip. of Settlement, Ex. 2, Corporate Governance Agreement 

(collectively the "2008 Order")) (JA000044-083). It mandated particular reforms regarding the 

monitoring, management, and reporting of mine-safety violations - reforms intended to prevent disasters 

such as Upper Big Branch by ensuring appropriate oversight by the Individual Respondents. (JA000422

424.) The Original Complaint in this action, Civil Action No. 10-C-715, was filed in conjunction with the 

first contempt petition (captioned as a motion for rule to show cause) in the Manville action, Civil Action 

No.07-C-1333. Although both arose out offacts and circumstances involving the Upper Big Branch 

mine disaster on April 5, 20 I 0, the two actions had distinct legal and factual bases. As required for any 

claim of contempt, that proceeding was initiated in the action where the order at issue was entered. The 

contempt petition asserted that the individual contemnors - the then-current members of Massey's board 

- had violated the terms of a June 30, 2008 court order previously entered in the same action that 

mandated the implementation of specific reforms "relating to company oversight and conduct regarding 

environmental and mine worker safety standards." Manville, 749 S.E.2d at 332. Proof of contempt 

requires no showing that the violation of an order was willful. The Original Complaint asserted distinct 

causes of action, derivatively on behalf of Massey, for breach of fiduciary duty against the same and other 

defendants. 

On June 7, 2010, Petitioners, California State Teachers' Retirement System ("CaISTRS") and 

Amalgamated Bank, as Trustee for the LongView Collective Investment Funds ("Amalgamated Bank"), I 

I As noted in the Amended Complaint, CalSTRS was "the largest teachers' retirement fund and the second largest 
public pension fund in the United States with assets totaling $138.5 billion" at that time, and Amalgamated Bank 
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joined Manville Trust as plaintiffs in this action with the filing of the Amended Complaint, collectively 

representing over 360,000 shares of Massey common stock. (JA000409-410.) Thereafter, the Circuit 

Court transferred all other cases pending in the State and consolidated them with this action, appointing 

Manville Trust, CaISTRS, and Amalgamated Bank as lead plaintiffs of the consolidated matter.2 

(JAOOOS29-S36.) 

B. First Motion to Dismiss and Second Proposed Consolidation 

Respondents moved to dismiss this action on July 19, 20 I 0, and Petitioners filed their response 

on August 18, 20 I O. (JAOOOSSI-S52; JA000569-570; JA000949-992.) Prior to that filing, on August 11, 

2010, Petitioners moved to consolidate this action with the contempt proceeding before Judge Stucky, in 

which there had already been multiple hearings. (JA000873-88S.) Respondents opposed that effort and 

succeeded in keeping the actions on separate tracks; however, in the same hearing, Petitioner Manville 

Trust succeeded in defeating the alleged contemnors' second successive effort to dismiss the April 22, 

20 I 0 Rule to Show Cause and won a motion to compel the production of documents from alleged 

contemnors. (JA002174-176.) The Circuit Court never heard the first motion to dismiss. 

C. Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint and Preliminary Injunction Submission 

On January 29,2011, Massey announced that it had entered into a merger agreement (the 

"Merger Agreement") with Alpha (JAOO1068 at~ 161; JAOOI2IS, Pis.' Am. Mem. in Supp. of Prelim. 

was "a New York bank that manages approximately $11 billion in its LongView Funds for institutional investors." 
(JA000409-410 at ~ 7.) 

1 On June 22, 2010, the Massey II plaintiffs - Manville Trust, CaISTRS, and Amalgamated Bank - filed a response 
to the defendants' May 13,2010 Joint Motion to Transfer and Consolidate. In that response, the Massey II plaintiffs 
expressed their consent to the transfer and consolidation of the various cases provided that the Court appoint 
CaISTRS, Amalgamated Bank, and Manville Trust as co-lead plaintiffs, Motley Rice LLC as sole lead counsel, and 
A. Andrew MacQueen as liaison counsel. The response also indicated the consent to this leadership structure of 
those plaintiffs and their counsel in the cases to be transferred from the Circuit Court of Raleigh County and 
requested that the Court create an executive committee comprised of the same. By Agreed Order entered July 1, 
2010 in Massey IT, the Court transferred and consolidated the then-pending cases and effectuated the requested 
leadership structure by agreement of all parties. (JA000529-536.) On July 2, 2010, Respondents filed a Joint 
Motion to Stay proceedings in Massey II until a decision was reached in the derivative actions filed in Delaware, 
including new actions filed there by the plaintiffs in the two cases originally filed in the Circuit Court of Wyoming 
County but voluntarily dismissed. (JA000537-546.) 

5 




Inj. May 20, 2011, 18 ("Pis.' Am. Mem.").) On April 15, 2011, the two companies announced that 

shareholders would vote on the merger at special meetings to be held on June 1,20 II (the "Merger"). 

(JAOOI070 at 'i[164.) On the same day, Alpha announced that the executive management team for the 

post-merger company would include key Respondents in this action: Massey Chief Executive Officer 

("CEO") Baxter Phillips, Chief Operating Officer ("COO") Christopher Adkins, General Counsel Shane 

Harvey, and Senior Vice President ofGroup Operations Mark Clemens. (JAOOI070-71 at'i[165; 

JAOOI214.) 

Promptly following these announcements, Petitioners filed a motion for leave to file a Second 

Amended Verified Shareholder Derivative and Class Action Complaint (the "Second Amended 

Complaint") on May 2, 2011. (JA000993-II02.) Petitioners served their motion and exhibits on all 

parties to the action and sent copies of the filings to counsel for Alpha. (See JAOO II 0 I.) In addition to 

the prior derivative claims, the Second Amended Complaint asserted direct claims relating to the merger 

on an individual and class action basis for Petitioners and other Massey shareholders. (JAOO 1094-095 at 

'i['i[228-234.) These claims, unlike the derivative claims, were brought for the sole benefit of Massey's 

shareholders, and not on behalf of Massey. Id. They alleged that Respondents breached the fiduciary 

duties owed to shareholders in negotiating and approving the Merger Agreement. Id. Those direct claims 

are based on the special duties owed to shareholders that arise in the context of a merger, which are 

distinct from a board's duties to the corporation in the normal course ofbusiness, which form the basis of 

derivative claims. 

The Second Amended Complaint alleged facts showing that the Merger Agreement was an 

attempt by the Individual Respondents to escape liability for the shareholder derivative claims asserted in 

their action and the contempt proceeding. These same facts are relevant to two different issues involving 

distinct claims of fiduciary duty violations: (I) whether Respondents breached the special duties owed 

directly to Massey shareholders that arose once merger discussions began; and (2) whether Petitioners 

could ultimately prove their post-merger standing to pursue derivative claims arising out of Respondents' 
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prior breaches of fiduciary duties to Massey (that is, would Petitioners ultimately be able to prove on a 

full record that the purpose of the Merger was pretextual and the product of Respondents' efforts to 

escape personal liability). 

Relevant to both issues, the proposed Second Amended Complaint detailed, among other things, 

how the Individual Respondents violated duties owed to Massey (JAOO1013-015 at ~~ 41-2, 44-5; 

JAOO1020-047 at ~~ 57-106; JAOOlOn at ~ 166); the tremendous personal liability they faced as a result 

(JAOO1001-002 at ~ 7; JAOO1048-049 at ~~ 111-l3; JAOO1054-055 at ~ 126; JAOO1062 at ~ 142; 

JAOO 1 070 at ~ 164); that counsel for the Respondents in this action advised the Massey Board during the 

merger negotiations about the effect of the Merger on the derivative lawsuits filed against its members 

(JAOO1060-063 at ~~ 138-40, 143; JA001 066-067 at ~ 153); that advancing derivative and contempt 

litigation precipitated merger negotiations with Alpha beginning in August 2010 (JAOOI054-055 at ~ 126; 

JA001059-060 at ~ l37(c)); that Respondent Inman and Alpha CEO Kevin Crutchfield ("Crutchfield") 

negotiated the retention of "key operators" of Massey mines subsequent to a September 28,2010 meeting 

(JAOO 1 061-062 at ~ 141; JAOO 1070-071 at ~ 165); that Alpha's retention of primary Individual 

Respondents was part of negotiations from early in the process and was the equivalent of Alpha's 

commitment not to prosecute the shareholder derivative claims against the Individual Respondents 

(JAOO1061-062 at ~ 141; JAOOlOn at ~~ 166-167); that the merger consideration significantly 

undervalued Massey coal reserves (JAOO1066-067 at ~~ 152-53, 155); that Individual Respondents told 

Alpha early on that factors other than price would determine their ultimate approval of an offer 

(JAOO1066-068 at ~~ 152-53, 158); and that the Board pursued their personal interests in eliminating 

liability by negotiating and approving the Merger Agreement (JAOO1058-0n at ~~ l37-167). 

D. 	 Expedited Discovery and Submission of Discovery Materials in Support of 
Petitioners' Motion for Preliminary Injunction 

Following an exceptionally expedited discovery process lasting less than a month, Petitioners 

relied on the substantial, though incomplete, record developed to support their motion for a preliminary 
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injunction. (JAOOl19l-229.) Petitioners' preliminary injunction submission included hundreds of pages 

of internal corporate documents and deposition testimony. (JAOOI230-738.) This evidence supported 

Petitioners' allegations that Massey's merger with Alpha was the product of the Individual Respondents' 

efforts to maintain control of Massey's internal investigation into the causes of the Upper Big Branch 

explosion and thereby escape bankrupting personal liability for the shareholder derivative claims asserted 

in this action. (JAOO I 054-055 at ~ 126; JAOOI058-060 at ~ 137; JAOOI206-21O; JAOOI213.) 

E. 	 Petitioners' Motions Were Not Heard in Advance of Rapidly Approaching 
Shareholder Vote on the Proposed Merger 

Because of the Circuit Court's schedule, it could not hear Petitioners' motion for preliminary 

injunction and motion for leave to file the Second Amended Complaint noticed for a May 25, 2011 

hearing. (JAOOI778.) Consequently, Petitioners filed an Emergency Petition for Preliminary Injunction 

with this Court, which declined to exercise jurisdiction on the grounds that the earlier request was never 

"denied." (Order Denying Prelim. Inj., CalSTRS v. Blankenship et al., No. 11-0839 (W. Va. May 31, 

2011). (JA001828.) The Order remanded the case back to the Circuit Court for further proceedings. Id. 

F. 	 Merger Approved Based on Materially False and Misleading Information 

In the proxy statement informing shareholders about the merger, Massey failed to disclose the 

fraudulent process that motivated the transaction. (JA002l4l-l42.) As Petitioners' discovery to-date has 

shown, statements to shareholders were materially false and misleading in this regard. Id. Without the 

benefit of this evidence, the shareholders of Massey and Alpha approved the Merger on June 1, 20 II. !d. 

The Merger closed a short time later. Id. 

G. 	 Briefmg on the Second Motion to Dismiss and Petitioners' Motion for Leave to 
Amend 

On June 24, 2011, Respondents then filed the motion to dismiss that the Circuit Court granted 

with its November 14, 2013 Order. Respondents moved to dismiss the case, purportedly pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, on the grounds that both the Amended Complaint 

and the proposed Second Amended Complaint "fail [ ed] to state a claim upon which relief could be 
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granted." (JAOOI832-833.) However, unlike the usual Rule 12(b)(6) motions where a defendant seeks to 

dismiss a complaint based on the four corners of a plaintiffs pleading, Respondents based their motion on 

external facts submitted via a declaration of counsel. (JAOOI849-2117.) Attached to that declaration, 

Respondents submitted documents evidencing the Merger Agreement dated January 28, 2011, the 

Certificate of Merger dated June I, 20 II, and other facts not mentioned by either the Amended Complaint 

or the proposed Second Amended Complaint. ld. 

With respect to the claims in the July 7, 2010 Amended Complaint, which were all derivative in 

nature, Respondents moved for dismissal on the grounds that Petitioners lacked standing to assert their 

claims based on facts evidenced by Respondents' declaration and, accordingly, that the Amended 

Complaint should be dismissed. (JAOOI841-843.) Respondents also opposed Petitioners' motion for 

leave to file the proposed Second Amended Complaint on the grounds that it failed to state a claim and 

accordingly would be futile. (JAOOI843-845.) With regard to the derivative claims in the Second 

Amended Complaint, Respondents argued that Petitioners no longer had standing to assert them (because 

of the closing of the Merger, which had occurred after the filing of the May 2, 20 II Second Amended 

Complaint). (JAOOI844.) Further, with respect to those derivative claims, Respondents argued that any 

request to amend the pleading should be denied as futile because Petitioners conclusively could not allege 

that the purpose of the Merger was to avoid liability on the alleged derivative claims. (ld.) 

With respect to the direct, merger-related claims in the proposed Second Amended Complaint,

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