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

was a fraud. Petitioners themselves acknowledge that point. (JA002439-41.) Accordingly, the 

Circuit Court properly granted Respondents' motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint. 

(JA002582-85; JA002631-53.) 
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B. 	 The Proposed Second Amended Complaint and Any Complaint Based on 
Petitioners' Additional Allegations Would Be Futile. 

Rather than defend their Amended Complaint, the gravamen of Petitioners' 

appeal to this Court is that their Proposed Second Amended Complaint, and other facts they have 

since purportedly learned or discovered, satisfy the fraud exception to the continuous ownership 

rule. For that reason, they argue that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying them 

leave to amend. (See Pet'rs' Br. at 20-28.) As discussed above, however (see supra Part I), "this 

Court affords circuit courts broad discretion in ruling upon motions to amend". Triad Insulation, 

Inc., 2013 WL 3184656, at *2-3. 

The "fraud exception applies only in the limited circumstance 'where the merger 

itself is ... being perpetrated merely to deprive shareholders of their standing to bring the 

derivative action"'. Arkansas Teacher Ret. Sys., 75 A.3d at 897 (quoting Lambrecht, 3 AJd at 

284 n.20 (alteration in original)); see also In re Massey Energy Co., 2011 WL 2176479, at *30 

(describing the fraud exception as a "very strict test"). Petitioner must plead sufficient facts 

demonstrating that the defendants faced substantial liability under the derivative claims, "were 

motivated by such liability", and that the merger's purpose was "solely to avoid liability". 

Globis Partners, L.P. v. Plumtree Software, Inc., No. CIV.A. 1577-VCP, 2007 WL 4292024, 

at *6 (Del. Ch. Nov. 30,2007) (emphasis added). "[G]eneralized and conclusory assertions of 

fraud on the part of the directors are insufficient to bring the Complaint within any of the 

exceptions to the continuous ownership requirement." Mehta v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 

C.A. No. 6891-VCL, 2014 WL 5438534, at *4 (Del. Ch. Oct. 20,2014). And courts have 

declined to apply the fraud exception where "avoiding derivative liability was neither the only 

nor the principal reason for supporting the" merger. Arkansas Teacher Ret. Sys., 75 A.3d at 895. 

In other words, to meet the exception a plaintiff must "allege there was no alternative valid 
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business purpose for the [m]erger". Globis Partners, 2007 WL 4292024, at *8. To Respondents' 

knowledge, no Delaware court has ever found the fraud exception satisfied. Petitioners have not 

come close here. 

First, the Merger resulted in substantial value to Massey shareholders. The over 

$7 billion merger consideration represented a 27% premium above Massey's stock price the day 

of the UBB explosion. As Judge Stucky noted in dismissing Petitioners' contempt petition in 

Manville I-and as this Court recognized-such a premium is "hardly indicative of a transaction 

undertaken 'solely' for liability avoidance". Manville Pers. Injury Trust v. Blankenship, No. 07

C-1333, 2011 WL 10831074, at *11 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Sept. 29, 2011); see also Manville I, 231 

W. Va at 646, 749 S.E.2d at 338. (JA002568.) Indeed, it is hard to imagine how such a 

premium could ever support an inference that the "sole purpose" of a merger was fraudulent or 

that it had "no alternative valid business purpose". Globis Partners, 2007 WL 4292024, at *8. 

Second, the allegations in the Proposed Second Amended Complaint are merely 

conclusory statements that do not approach the specificity required by Rule 9(b) of the West 

Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. See W. Va. R. Civ. P. 9(b) ("[C]ircumstances constituting 

fraud ... shall be stated with particularity"). As this Court recognized in Manville I, Rule 9(b) 

applies to Petitioners' attempts to allege the fraud exception and its "strict requirements" are an 

"exception to the principles of brevity and simplicity in pleading". Manville I, 231 W. Va at 

646, 749 S.E.2d at 338 (JA002570); see also Highmark W. Va., Inc. v. Jamie, 221 W. Va. 487, 

493,655 S.E.2d 509, 515 (2007) ("A pleading which includes a claim of fraud requires more 

than the short, plain statement of the claim contemplated under Rule 8(a)(l)."); Kessel v. Leavitt, 

204 W. Va. 95, 132,511 S.E.2d 720, 757 (1998) ("[W]hen a party alleges that he/she has been 
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injured by the fraud or fraudulent conduct of another, the circumstances constituting fraud ... 

[must] be stated with particularity." (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted». 

Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint offers purported "facts" that are merely 

conclusory and inconsistent allegations pleaded without the requisite particularity. Among other 

things, Petitioners generally allege that the UBB mine was cited by regulators for violations, and 

media reporters criticized the Massey mining operations. (JA000998-1106.) They claim that the 

damage to Massey may be in the hundreds of millions of dollars. (JAOO1049 ~ 112.) They offer 

the bald and unsupported conclusion that the Massey Board's "ultimate goal" was to eliminate 

"shareholder plaintiffs' standing". (JAOOI 054-55 ~ 126.) They assert that the Massey Board 

instructed Perella to solicit bids from only three companies. (JAOO1064 ~ 147.) And they 

claim-without any support-that Alpha's post-Merger retention of certain Massey employees 

proves that it never intended to pursue the derivative claims against respondents. (JAOO1070-71 

~ 164-65.) These blunderbuss allegations do not meet the specificity required by Rule 9(b), nor 

support any logical inference that the Merger was pretextual and undertaken "solely to avoid 

liability". Globis Partners, 2007 WL 4292024, at *7 (emphasis added). 

Petitioners concede that Respondents were explicitly directed by counsel to 

"assume the [pending] derivative claims would survive the" Merger and not to take those claims 

into account when considering the Merger. (JAOO 1 066-67 ~ 153.) They allege that 

Respondent's decision not to take those claims into account somehow supports their derivative 

standing because those claims represented "enormous damages". (Pet'rs' Br. at 22; JAOOI 069 

~ 162.) Of course, the allegation that Respondents did not consider the derivative claims when 

voting on the merger is completely inconsistent with Petitioners' attempt to plead the fraud 

exception. Rather, it suggests that the merger was not motivated in any way, let alone solely, by 
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the Respondents' desire to avoid liability. In fact, that allegation was part of then-Vice 

Chancellor Strine's reasoning in rejecting the Delaware plaintiffs' attempt to plead the fraud 

exception, "to the extent the record supports any inference, it is that the independent directors 

were led to believe that the Derivative Claims would survive the Merger ... [and] the record 

does not suggest that the independent directors of Massey feared their net wealths were at risk or 

that their decision to sell to Alpha was colored by such a fear". In re Massey Energy Co., 2011 

WL 2176479, at *25. 

The additional "evidence" Petitioners submitted in support of their motion to 

enjoin the merger fares no better. (Perrs' Br. at 12-13.) According to Petitioners, Respondents' 

plan "to insulate themselves from liability" was not to undertake a merger, but rather to launch 

an "internal investigation of [the cause of the UBB explosion]" headed by "the most culpable 

persons ... including Blankenship". (Perrs' Br. at 12.) Only when "control over that 

investigation" was threatened by Alpha's potential hostile takeover-a takeover that 

Respondents would have welcomed without hesitation or negotiation if the objective were to 

deprive Petitioners of standing-Respondents attempted to "pacify Alpha". (Id.) When that 

effort allegedly failed, Petitioners claim, ''the Board, led by Inman, turned against Blankenship in 

an effort to secure Alpha's commitment to the continuity of the internal investigation and its 

perspective on the causes of the explosion, which would exculpate them from shareholder 

derivative liability". (Id.) According to this theory, Respondents then engineered Alpha winning 

the bidding process over Arch, the rival bidder, in order to "ensure that whoever controlled the 

Company would continue to defend, not prosecute". (Pet'rs' Br. at 14.) Even if this convoluted 

allegation could support an inference that Respondents breached their fiduciary duties-and it 

does not-it cannot support Petitioners' claim that the Merger was "perpetrated merely to 
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deprive shareholders of their standing to bring the derivative action". Lambrecht, 3 A.3d at 284 

n.20. As with Petitioners' theory regarding consideration of the derivative claims, this allegation 

mandates the opposite conclusion. 12 

Finally, Petitioners' latest argument is that the allegations in the recent indictment 

against Donald Blankenship "provide additional support to Petitioners' claims at issue[] in this 

case by further demonstrating the substantial likelihood ofpersonal liability that 

Respondents ... faced". (Pet'rs' Br. at 23.) Putting aside the fact that the Indictment contains 

only allegations, as Petitioners themselves acknowledge, Blankenship was indicted for allegedly 

conspiring to violate mining regulations and standards and committing securities fraud. (Pet'rs' 

Br. at 17-18.) Those allegations have no bearing on the intentions of the Massey Board when 

negotiating or approving the Merger. To the contrary, Petitioners allege that Blankenship 

opposed the Merger and left the Massey Board well before it was approved, in part, because of 

that opposition. (JAOOI064-66 ~~ 148, 150-51.)13 

12 Petitioners also claim that Respondent Bobby Inman and Alpha's CEO, Kevin 
Crutchfield, entered into a "social condition" under which Alpha agreed to "keep Massey's 
internal investigation intact by hiring [] the most culpable of its officers and mine operators post 
merger". (Pet'rs' Br. at 12-13.) Even in the light most favorable to Petitioners, the facts in the 
Proposed Second Amended Complaint do not support an inference that this was Admiral 
Inman's intention. Even if it were, this allegation is not sufficient to allege that the Merger was 
undertaken solely to avoid liability. (JAOOI062 ~ 141 (stating that Admiral Inman suggested to 
Mr. Crutchfield that Alpha consider keeping on board certain key mine operators "who were 
very talented", without suggesting which positions they should hold).) Petitioners primarily rely 
on an October 3, 2010 email written by Mr. Crutchfield to himself that allegedly memorializes 
this agreement with Mr. Inman. (JAOOI563.) Petitioners' reliance on that October email is 
undermined by a November 2010 email showing that, as late as November 2010, Alpha was still 
considering a hostile offer for Massey because it did not perceive Massey's board as taking 
Alpha's interest seriously. (JA001565; see also JA002337-39.) 

13 Petitioners also contend that they should be allowed to access the documents at issue in 
the Blankenship criminal case. (Pet'rs' Br. at 23-24.) But despite extensive discovery in this 
action, they have not managed to plead a cognizable claim, and they offer no reason to believe 
any additional document they might obtain at some later date will make any difference. 
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Given Petitioners' inability to plead the fraud exception, it should come as little 

surprise that then-Vice Chancellor Strine, considering the negotiations leading up to the Merger, 

observed that "it appears highly doubtful that the plaintiffs will be able to show that Massey's 

directors and officers sought to sell the company to Alpha solely in order to extinguish their 

potential liability for the pending Derivative Claims". In re Massey Energy Co., 2011 WL 

2176479, at *2. (JA001858.) Then-Vice Chancellor Strine also recognized that the "record will 

not bear the inference that any bidder prepared to pay more has been prevented from doing so" 

and that "[t]he Massey Board seems to have exerted reasonable efforts to get the highest price it 

could from Alpha". 2011 WL 2176479, at *4. (JA001861.) Realizing that the Chancery Court's 

conclusions are fatal to their case, Petitioners contend that the Chancery Court's opinion does not 

conclusively resolve Petitioners' standing because whether "something appears 'highly doubtful' 

or seems 'likely' to another court is not an appropriate standard for resolving a request for leave 

to amend". (Pet'rs' Br. at 24.) But the Circuit Court did not deny Petitioners leave to amend 

because of the Chancery Court's reasoning; it denied their request because, as this Court 

recognized, the Merger provided substantial value, as evidenced by the fact that "[0]ver 99% of 

Massey shares that were voted were in favor of the Merger" in light of the substantial premium 

in cash and stock it offered Massey's former shareholders. Manville I, 231 W. Va at 641, 749 

S.E.2d at 333. 

C. 	 Conversion of Respondents' 12(b)(6) Motion Into One for Summary 
Judgment Was Unnecessary and Would Have Been Unwarranted. 

Petitioners contend that the Circuit Court should have applied a summary 

judgment standard when deciding Respondents' 12(b)( 6) motion and the denial of Petitioners' 

leave to amend. They are wrong. 
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First, Petitioners assert that, because standing involves "a mixed question of law 

and fact", it is "the province ofthe jury" and a summary judgment standard must be applied. 

(Pet'rs' Br. 18-19. ) Yet, the Circuit Court in Manville I granted Respondents' motion to dismiss 

on standing, and this Court affirmed that decision. Manville Pers. Injury Trust v. Blankenship, 

2011 WL 10831074, at *14 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Sept. 29, 2011), affd, 231 W. Va at 647-48, 749 

S.E.2d at 339-40. Moreover, one of Petitioners' own citations notes that summary judgment is 

inappropriate on a motion to dismiss for lack of standing because a court without standing has 

"no power to enter a judgment on the merits and must dismiss the action". Elmore v. Triad 

Hosp., Inc., 220 W. Va. 154, 157 n.7, 640 S.E.2d 217, 221 n.7 (2006) (citations omitted). 14 

Second, Petitioners appear to contend that a summary judgment standard was 

warranted because the Circuit Court considered materials outside the pleadings that were 

appended to a declaration submitted in support of Respondents' motion to dismiss. (Pet'rs' Br. 

at 9.) It is well established that in deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion courts may consider materials 

ofwhich it may take judicial notice without converting the motion into one for summary 

judgment. See Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W. Va. 746, 747-48, 671 S.E.2d 748, 752-53 (2008) 

(collecting cases describing materials that courts consider on a 12(b)(6) motion). Such materials 

include both judicial proceedings, which "constitute public records", and matters central to the 

pleadings or integral to the complaint, regardless of whether they are formally incorporated by 

14 None of the other cases cited by Petitioner has anything to do with the standing question 
here. In State ex reI. Paul B. v. Hill, this Court determined that inadequacy of allegations 
contained in an abuse and neglect petition did not abrogate standing to bring such a petition. 201 
W. Va. 248,256,496 S.E.2d 198,206 (1997). In Pocahontas Mining Co. v. Oxy USA, Inc. this 
Court merely determined that a fraud claim was "asserted with sufficient particularity" to raise 
"genuine issues of material fact as to require submission of the case to ajury". 202 W. Va. 169, 
171,503 S.E.2d 258,260 (1998). Similarly, State v. Kendell, a criminal appeal following a trial 
conviction, stands only for the proposition that the existence of exigent circumstances is a factual 
issue for ajury to decide. 219 W. Va 686,693,639 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2006). 
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reference. Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis, & Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Litigation Handbook on 

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure § 12(b)(6)[2], at 387 n.1162 (4th ed. 2012); see also id. 

at § 12(b)(6)[3], at 395 n.1216; Forshey, 222 W. Va. at 748, 671 S.E.2d at 753 ("Even where a 

document is not incorporated by reference, the court may nevertheless consider it where the 

complaint relies heavily upon its terms and effect, which renders the document integral to the 

complaint. "). 

The only documents included by Respondents for the Circuit Court's 

consideration were (l) prior pleadings in this case; (2) pleadings and a judicial decision from the 

Delaware Case; and (3) public documents relating to the Merger, such as the Merger Agreement 

and Certificate of Merger. (JA001849-2]] 7.) Those are precisely the types of public records 

and materials of which courts may take judicial notice. Forshey, 222 W. Va. at 747-48,671 

S.E.2d at 752-53. Petitioners do not cite to any other material that they allege were 

inappropriately considered by the Circuit Court. (Pet'rs' Br. at 9.) Indeed they could not, as the 

Circuit Court's opinion relied on nothing else. IS 

Further, Petitioners contend that the Circuit Court considered facts that were "not 

properly before it" in referencing the Delaware Chancery Court's decision. (Pet'rs' Br. at 25.) 

But the only "facts" they point to relate to the substantial merger consideration and the premium 

it represented over Massey's stock price at various times. (Pet'rs' Br. at 25; JA002611-12 ~ 32.)

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